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Trustees' Report

The Trustees present their annual repon together with the financial statements and auditors' report of the charitable company

for the period 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025. The annual report serves the purpose of both a Trustees' report, and a

directors' report under company law.

The Trust operated two primary and one secondary academies during 2024 - 2025 accommodating pupils aged 3 to 18. The

total numbers of pupils on roll within the Trust was 1,860 in the school census in Autumn 2024.

we are pleased to report that FY 2024-25 was another highly successful for the Learning for Life Trust with our schools

continuing to thrive and the Trust greatly increasing in size with the addition of Cockermouth khool. Further details are
provided within this report. ln summary we successfully:

Supponed our schools deliver outcomes that we are proud of and maintain our school rolls at the levels that demonstrate
their ongoing success and viability.

Grown the Trust significantly with the addition of Cockermouth School. This involved delivering a seamless transition
project and consolidation of central processing functions for payroll and financial systems. Delivering this groMh enabled

the Trust to develop its leadership capacity and form an Executive Team focussed on Primary, Secondary and

Finance/Operations .

Strengthened relationships between the schools. Schools and school leaders are now working effectively and autonomously
to support one another. This has allowed us to share expertise, support developments and consider evidence-based

research as a wider group leading to impactful changes within schools. Our schools are fully established with all teacher
posts recruited to and we continue to host training and apprenticeships for teachers and TAs respectively.

Continued to nurture strong relationships with more schools in the local area. This led to a number of enquiries throughout
the year and increased interest in joining the Trust in future. The Trust also received a number of requests to provide

support to Local Authority schools and was able to provide this support through service level agreements with the LA. The

Trust continues to work closely with the LA on a number of strategic areas including SEND, Financial Planning and School

Sufficiency Plans.

Further embedded our School Support and lmprovement Programme allowing schools to collaborate in a targeted way and

identify areas of strength and where support is needed. The targeted work in this area led to improved teaching and

learning in all settings and to the schools achieving strong academic results for our pupils.

Used our collaborative approach to supporting safeguarding, health and safety and SEND in schools. This programme of
support ensures school leaders are confident and competent in achievinB compliance and best-practice in these key areas.

The MAT introduced a network for each of these areas of collaboration ensuring leaders develop their approaches to
common issues effectively.
Completed a successful audit programme at both Trust and khool level with particularly strong results in relation to risk

management. The internalaudit programme was able to test our transition process during a period of MAT groMh and

consider both operational and strategic issues within its reporting remit.

Continued to maintain a stable and strong financial position following another year of sound financial management with
improved financial performance within Primary Schools and careful financial stewardship at Secondary School level as the

school adiuststo a newannual intake size over time. Reserves at each school either meet our reserves policy or have

improved towards doing so.

Successfully been granted Condition lmprovement Fundsto improve electrical and fire safety at Fairfield Primary School

and complete similar improvements at Cockermouth School. This proiect further improves the estate and reducesthe

Trust's estates risk. we continue to bid for such funds into the future.

successfully continued the work towards a new school build at cockermouth School within the national DfE school

Rebuilding Programme having completed feasibility and procurement phases of this and entering pre-construction phase.

Following the deployment of an intensive support package to a local school, we completed a due diligence programme

towards the school joining the MAT with a planned transition from early 2026.



Learning for Life Trust Page 3

Trustees' Report (continuedl

Obiectives and Activities

Objects and Aims
The Trust is passionate about ensuring each and every one of its pupils achieves their full potential and places them at the
heart of its system. ln doing so, the Trust fulfils its charitable obje€tive of providing education for the public benefit in the
United Kingdom and promoting a broad and balanced curriculum for all students.

The Trust continue to focus on the development of strategies and practices to ensure all the pupils receive the very best

education through strong leadership, along with innovative and energetic teaching provided by happy and well-supported
practitioners. Whilst always seeking to develop and improve, this strategy has been very successful as is demonstrated later in

the attainment section of this report. We operate high performing schools who are focused on continual development and

improvement. with such strength academically and financially, the Trust has been able to effectively bring another school into
the Trust whilst diligently exploring groMh options for the future.

ln order to achieve this, the Trust focusses on its Vision, Mission and Values as follows

Vision: We will create an effective partnership of ambitious schools collaborating effectively to ensure that everybody is

supported in reaching their full potential.

Mission: Our ambition is to be recognised as a Trust who serve their schoolcommunity in delivering creative, ambitious and

excitinB education practices, allowing pupils and staff to thrive and succeed. Our schools will be the first choice for their local

community and will ensure that all children leave our care having achieved their very best and ready for the next stage of their
life.

Values:
. lntegrity - We will behave ethically, always working with trust, transparency and honesty

lndividuality - We recognise that in order to develop a strong, inclusive whole, our schools need to retain their own distinct
identity.

Ambition - We will always strive to offer the best possible suppoG resource and facilities to our schools allowing them to
deliver the most inspiring curriculum offer for the community they serve.

Creative - We are committed to developing traditional and new education practices in an innovative way, allowing our
schools to deliver what is best for their community.

Supportive - We always support and nurture our community of schools ensuring that we are able to achieve our full
potential.

lnsplring - We aim to inspire everybody associated with the Trust to be the very best they can be.
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Trustees' Report (continued)

ObFctives, Strateties and Activities
With strengthened stability and capacity in 2024/25, the Trust is now well positioned to continue progress toward its long-term
vision. A clear development plan and roadmap outline the Trust's key activities and targets, and these are monitored regularly.

Achieving the strategic obiectives will enable further growth, support strong leadership and Sovernance across the
organisation, and ensure continued improvement in educational provision.

The Trust's key strategic development areas are

. School Development & Delivery

. Leadership & Governance

. MAT GroMh

. lnfrastructure, Finance & Estates

Strategic objectives are cascaded to individual schools to implement through their School Development Plans, created by each

Senior Leadership Team and Local Governing Body. The Trust provides continued support throughout the year to help deliver

these plans.

This year, the Trust focused on strengthening the centralisation of systems and structures while exploring future SroMh
opportunities. lt continued to work towards its core aim of ensuring pupils receive high-quality teaching, learning, and a broad,

engaging curriculum. Through strong commitment to staff development, wellbeing, and a flexible governance model, the Trust

supported schools in sustaining and improving performance (see performance section).

Having experienced the value of collaborative working, the Trust remains committed to expanding its partnership of schools. ln

preparation for future groMh, it has continued to reinforce governance structures and procedures and has maintained an

active recruitment campaign to appoint additional Trustees, enhancing both expertise and capacity.

A robust infrastructure is in place to ensure the Trust remains financially viable and sustainable. Financial oversight is carried

out through the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee, which reviews Trust funds, budgets, spending, risk management, and audit

outcomes. This year, we focussed on increasing central capacity, centralising contracts, improving reporting and systems and

investing in solutions designed to support future expansion.

The Trust also continued to assess and support the effective management of its estate. Through the Condition lmprovement

Fund and dedicated internal resources, it has secured funding for priority projects, including a new build through the School

Building Programme, and ensured ongoing investment in maintaining and improving school buildings.

Public Benefit
The Trustees have given consideration to the charity commission's general guidance on public benefit and in particular to its

supplementary guidance on education. The Trustees confirm that they have complied with the duty in Section 17(5) of the

Charities Act 2011 to have due regard to the Charity Commission's general guidance on public benefit in exercisint their powers

or duties. They have referred to this guidance when reviewing the Academy's aims and objectives and in planning its future

activities.

The Trust's objective is to advance for the public benefit education in the United Kingdom, in particular but without prejudice

to the generality of the foregoing, by establishing, maintaining, carrying on, managing and developing schools offering a broad

and balanced curriculum which helps all students to fulfiltheir potential.



Learning for Life Trust

Trustees' Report (continued)

Structure, Governance and Management

Page 5

Constitution
The Trust was incorporated on 16 July 2015. The Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The
Memorandum and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the Trust.

The Trustees of Learning for Life Trust are also the directors for the purposes of company law. Details of the Trustees who
served throughout the year, except as noted, are included in the Reference and Administrative Details.

Members' tiability
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Trust in the event of it being wound up
while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount as may be required, not
exceeding f10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they cease to be a member.

Trustee and tovernor's lndemnhies
ln respect of the trustee and governors, the Trust holds professional indemnity insurance via the Department of Education's
risk protection arrangements.

Method of Recruitment and Appolntment or Electlon of Trustees
Trustees are appointed for a four-year period. Subject to remaining eligible to be a particular type ofTrustee, any Trustee can
be re-appointed or re-elected. Any Truste€ seeking re-appointment or re-election submits a justification for the Boards
consideration. When appointing new Trustees, the Board will give consideration to the skills and experience mix of existing
Trustees in order to ensure that the Board has the necessary skills to contribute fully to the development and expansion ofthe
Trust.

Policies and Procedu.es Adopted ror thc lnduction and T.aining of Trustees
New Trustees receive induction training to detail their legal obligations under Charity and Company Law and the content ofthe
Articles of Association. They receive an induction pack which includes copies of policies, procedures, minutes, accountt
budgets, plans and other documents that they need to undertake their role as Trustees. They have meetings with the Chair of
Trustees to provide support as required. All Trustees are provided with safeguarding training and are given the opportunity to
sit training courses through multiple sources and throughout the year are kept up to date on relevant issues and changes in
legislation.

Engagement with employecs (including disabled personsl
We engage widely with our staff and wider school community through a variety of means - a mixture of formal and informal
mechanisms.

We meet regularly with staff and use staff newsletters and bulletins to ensure staff are kept informed.
We meet termly with local staff representatives do discuss topical issues (local and national) and how we are dealing with
them.

We meet termly with Trades Unions to discuss our policies and any matters relevant to the parties raised from time to time
and this Joint Consultative Forum has enabled our HR policies to be updated successfully in partnership.
we seek and act on feedback from staff through surveys and listening events (e.g. consultation events).
We publish documents on the Trust's strategy and future plans.
We regularly respond to staff feedback and share good news/achievements to celebrate staff,s work in the Trust.
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Trustees' Report (continued)

Or8anisational Structure
The members of learning for Life Trust are the subscribers to the memorandum of association. They have the power to appoint
and remove Trustees.

The Trustees are either appointed by the members or co{pted by the Board of Trustees. The Trustees are responsible for the
three core strategic governance functions:

Ensuring clarity ofvision, ethos and strategic direction;
Holding the executive leader to account for the educational performance of the academy and its pupils, and the
performance management of staff;

Overseeing the financial performance ofthe academies and making sure it is money well spent.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that the charitable company achieves its objectives as well as compliance with charity
and company law and the Trust's funding agreement.

The Trust delegates specific finance and audit responsibilities to the Trust's audit, finance & risk committee.

Governance functions are delegated to the Local Governing Body ("LGB") in accordance with the Trust's Scheme of Delegation

Arantemenls for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel
Trustees work with Local Governing Board Members to set stretching and aspirational objectives for the Executives of the Trust

in line the Trust and School development needs. These are monitored duringthe performance review cycle.

The Trust workswithin national payand conditions for both teaching and non-teaching staff at all levels. Within these pay

recommendations for all staff are considered by the Board of Trustees annually and review of these is conducted by Local

Governing Boards to ensure appropriateness for each school prior to Trustees considering them.

Trade unlon facility time
The Trust is part of a Broup of academies who work collaboratively within a Trades Union Recognition Agreement and work in

partnership with recognised trade unions accordingly. The arrangements include termly meetings between the partles, and

the Trust also works with localTrades Union representatives where these are present in schools. Accordingly, the Trust

contributes to facilities time in line with the Trades Union Recognition Agreement and this is collected by the Local Authority

and distributed in line with an overall county approach.

Related partles and other connected charitiE and organbatlons

Learning for l-ife Trust is made up ofthe following schools

Eroughton Primary School (Primary 3-11)

Cockermouth khool (Secondary l1-18)
Fairfield Primary School (Primary 3-11)

There are no other formally connected organisations however the Trust works very closely with a group of schools sharing good

practice and undertaking Peer to Peer reviews with each school.
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Strategic Report

Achievements and Performance - Primary Settings

Strategic objective - Quality of provision - Primary Outcomes:

Early Years Profile:

atbnal GU)
Broughton GLD

Fairfield GLD

8t%
7@6

68%

P4e 7

Area

Listenin& Attention & Understanding

Being lmaBinative & Expressive

Speaking

Self- Regulation

Managing Self

Gross Motor Skills

Comprehension
The Naturalworld
Creating with Materials

Word Reading

Writing
Number

Numerical Patterns
Building Relationships

Fine Motor skills

Past & Present

People, Culture & Communities

Phonics Check:

Mu liGtion Tables Check c

End of 2

Brouaftton
a8%

7@%

aa%

8a%

94%
700%

8a%

700%

700%

7N%
a8%

94%

94%
7@oa

94%

7@%

700%

Fairfield
90%

700%

94%

96%

90%

88%

98%

92./.

too%
98%
70%

92%

96%
700./0

92.4

96%

96%

atbnal 96

Broughton X
Fairffeld t(

8@6

100%

92%

t{atbnal ArE Score
Broughton Ar,t Score
Fairfield Ava Score

20.6
24

23

atbnal
Erpected

Natl,onal
Greater
Depth

Brouglnon
Erpectd

Bmughton
Greater
Degdr

Falrfield
Erpectd

Fahf,eH
Greatel
Derth

(ey State 2 Ten

Reading, Writing & Maths
(combined)
Reading
Writing
SPaG

Mathematics
Science

5M
22%
22%
39%

as%
8%
9t%
93%
v%

75%
72%
7t%
74%
a2%

3t%
t3%
29A,$

26%

a9%
7a96

78%
a3%
94%

42%

32%
36%
u%

83% 2t%a%62% 72% t7x
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BROUGHTON PRIMARY SCHOOT

Brou8hton Primary School has had another strong year in partnership with the Trust. With all outcome markers in line with or
above national averages, their classroom provision continues to be strong. ln addition, the school offers a wide range of
excellent extra-curricular opportunities for children and expanded their Breakfast Club provision under the government backed
programme. The school were excellent contributors to the Trust's collaborative approach to support and are a key asset in our

Erowth plans. During 2024/25, with the support of the Trust, the school focussed on stabilising and improving their financial
position and are making progress at pace. We continue to support the School with their Estates development plan.

FAIRFIETD PRIMARY SCHOOI.

The Trust has continued to support Fairfield and, due to unwavering dedication and commitment to pupil welfare, support
experience and outcomes, performance remains consistently high and above national and local levels in all areas. Fairfield
continues to be a leading example of provision in Phonics and is a 'Champion khool' for the Little Wandle Letters and Sounds

Revised Programme. This status means the school is a national leading example for effe€tive implementation and delivery and

supports other schools with their Phonics. ln addition, the school has national Literacy and Maths Hub support practitioners.

The school underwent further significant refurbishments to its estates through electrical and fire safety and attracted grant
funding and planning permission to expand their facilities in 2025126.

Achievements and Performance - Secondary Settings

COCKERMOUTH SCHOOT

4 data - GCSE outcomes - 2025

5 data -A Level outcomes - 2025

Note: At the point of writing, 2025 National data is not published. For context, 2024 national data has been included

Since joining the Learning for Life Trust in September 2024, Cockermouth khool continues to go from strength to strength.
Academic outcomes, at both GCSE and A Level in 2025 continue to place the school as one of the highest performing schools in

the County and in the Northwest - consistently well above both local and National averages in all key measures of academic
performance. Cockermouth School is playing an increasingly strong role in the wider educational landscape, both within and

beyond the county, through its engagement with the wider educational community and contributions to system leadership.

Looking ahead, the school development priorities have an intensive focus on improving attendance and raisinB attainment for
disadvantaged students; these priorities align with the Trust's vision and the school's commitment to providing an exceptional

learning experience for all.

cockemouth
school

Local

Authority
Average

ational
Averate

Attainment 8 51.8 42.2 45.9
Grade 4 or above in English and maths GCSE 73.70% 5730% u.50%
Grade 5 or above in English and maths GCSE 57.40% 36.40% 45.20%
Entering EBacc 53.40% 32.OO% 40.50%
EBacc average points score 4.78 3.75 4.08

cockemouth school
2025 outcomes

National Average

L3 Average points per entry 40.83 3s.29 (2024)

L3 Average grade B= B- l2024l
A Level averaSe points per entry 41.5 3s.ss (2024)

Applied General average points per entry 38.43 28.74 (20241

Applied General average grade Distinction + Merit + (2024)

% A Level grades A*-B 69% s6%
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Achievements and Performance - Strategic Developments

Page 9

The2o24l25 academic year has been transformative for our Trust. We have focused on strengthening collaboration, improving
educational outcomes, and embedding sustainable practices across all schools. Guided by our Trust Development Plan, we have

achieved significant progress in four strategic pillars:

School lmprovement
This year, our commitment to raising standards has been evident through:
. collaborative Reviews: Joint School lmprovement Partner (SlP) visits across schools have provided robust external

challenge and shared best practice.
. Curriculum Development: We have embedded a high-quality curriculum framework, ensuring consistencv and depth across

all phases.

. Targeted CPD: Professional development has focused on SEND provision, safeguarding, and leadership pathways, equipping
staff with the skills to meet diverse learner needs.

. Performance Monitorin$ A Trust-wide dashboard now enables real-time analysis of attainment, progress, and attendance,
supporting data-driven interventions across all areas of education and business operations.

. lntensive Support: Deployed an intensive support package to a Local Authority Primary School over an extended period of
time leading to rapid yet sustainable improvements and change in all areas of school.

. Wellbeing lnitiatives; Policies such as workplace Wellbeing have been introduced to prioritise staff mental health,
alongside revised appraisal and complaints processes.

. Rapid Response Models: Financial and school improvement interventions have been deployed swiftly where needed,
demonstrating our capacity to support schools effectively.

MAT Growth
Strategic expansion has been a key priority:
. Due Diligence: Completed full and thorough due diligence for Broughton Moor Primary School leading to DfE support for

academisation in 2025/26.
. GroMh Strategy: A formalised plan now underpins future expansion, ensuring alignment with our vision and capacity.
. Partnership Development: Strengthened relationships with local schools and regional networks to foster collaboration and

readiness for groMh.
. Branding & Communication: Our Trust profile has been enhanced through a redesigned website, integrated social media

presence, and refreshed branding, improving stakeholderengagement.

lnfrastructure, Finance & Estates
Operational resilience has been strengthened through:
. Financial Systems: Consolidation of finance and payroll systems, introduction of digital requisitioning, and implementation

of a unified risk register.
. Cyber Security: Achieved Cyber Essentials Accreditation and launched a comprehensive Digital Strategy to safeguard data

and enhance digital learning.
. Estates Management: Delivered CIF-funded projects, preventative maintenance plans, and robust financial recovery

frameworks to ensure sustainability.
. Climate Action: Approved a Climate Action Plan, embedding environmental responsibility into our estate's strategy.

Leadership & Governance
Governance and leadership capacity have been enhanced;
. Reporting St.uctures: lntroduced a Trustee Dashboard and strengthened Chairs' Group to improve oversight and

accountability.
. Skills Audit & Recruitment Completed a governance skills audit and launched a targeted Trustee recruitment campaign to

broaden expertise.
. Collabo.ative Forums: Established themed working groups and weekly executive meetings to drive strategic alignment and

operational coherence.
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Trustees' Report (continued)

The Trust has made exceptional progress in delivering high-quality education, strengthening governance, and embedding

sustainable practices. Our schools are united by a shared vision of excellence, supported by robust systems and strong

leadership. As we move into 2025/26, we remain committed to continuous improvement, strategic groMh, and fostering a

culture of collaboration and innovation.

Going Concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the board ofTrustees has a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources

to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason it continues to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the
Statement of Accounting Policies.
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Trustees' Report (continued)

Financial Review

FinancialReview
The Academy Trust's accounting period is 01 September 2024 to 31 August 2025

During the period under review, the majority of the Trust's income was obtained from the DfE in the form of recurrent grants,
the use of which was restricted to the Trust's educational activities. The grants received during the accounting period and the
associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the Statement of Financial Activities.

OurinB the year, the Trust received total revenue funding for Charitable activities of €29,351,263, of which f14,808,909 was
transferred in with Cockermouth Schooljoining on 1st September 2024. The Trust received fundinl.of 874,257,760 lot
Academies' educational operations during the year.

Revenue expenditure excluding capital was f14,369,950, of which staffing is the main area of cost at f11,539,355 (80%)

The total funds carried forward at the balance sheet date was f16,462,811- this includes fund balances of €1,271,615 held by
schools and centrally as reserves available for future contingencies and/or investment.

Reserves Policy
At the end of the period the Trustees were holding f1,271,615 in restricted general funds (General Annual Grant f269,393) and
f938,360 in unrestricted funds, which are within DfE guidelines. The Trustees review the level of reserves annually as part of its
budget planning cycle and aims to carry forward a prudent level of resources from General Annual Grant as a contingency for
future unforeseen circumstances, and as contributions towards future capital improvement programmes.

The Trust had a reserves policy in place that sets reserves target for primary schools of 8%, representing 1 month of annual
expenditure. Fairfield Primary School currently meet the requirement of the reserves policy. Broughton Primary School is

working towards achieving this goal. For secondary schools the reserves target is 4% and Cockermouth School metthis
requirement.

Funds in Defrcit
There are no funds in deficit at the year end

lnvestment Policy
ln a period of financial uncertainty and historically low interest ratet the Trust's policy has been to maximise liquidity and
minim ise risk. Th is policy will be kept under review. TheTrust has invested within UX banks for short term (up to lmonth)
deposits to maximise possible investment returns within an acceptable investment risk.

The Trust is operating in a period of considerable financial uncertainty with regard to public funding and global issues and is
managing this risk through long term financial planning, appropriate governance and robust financial management and

monitoring.
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Trustees' Report (continuedl

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Fimncialand Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Trustees are responsible for the management ofthe risks the Trust is exposed to and have undertaken a review of risks

associated with its activities. The major risks that have been identified are recorded on the Trust's Risk Register, with
appropriate mitigation measures. The Audit, Finance & Risk committee monitor progress on a termly basis.

Trust estate management
The Trust works with eKernal specialists to assess and appraise the estate in relation to prioritisation of maintenance and

development. The Trust also engages with specialist firms to submit bids to the Condition lmprovement Fund on its behalf. ln

addition, the Trust has an overarching Health and Safety policy and appoints a Health and Safety Consultant to provide schools

with appropriate guidance and policy in relation to management and regularly audits the schools for compliance.

During the year, DfE Condition lmprovement Fund investment was undertaken at Cockermouth School and Fairfield School

following successful applications. Cockermouth School is part of the national School Building Programme and is working with
the DfE towards a totalrebuild of the schoolon the current site. Accelerated depreciation ofthis asset has therefore been

applied. The project has moved through feasibility, procurement and is currently in the pre{onstruction phase with
construction phase likely to commence during the next 12-month period.

Principal Funding Sources
The majority of the Trust's income is obtained from the Department for Education and the Local Authority in the form of
grants, the use of which is restricted to particular purposes.

Fundraising

The Trust does not engage with professional fundraisers to undertake any fundraising activities on its behalf. The Trust from
time to time carries out minor level fundraising activity to raise funds for the Trust whereby students seek voluntary donations

from parents and the local community. Where applicable the Trust does apply for grants appropriate to our public service

objects.

Plans for Future Periods

tooking forward the Trust is diligently pursuing itsvision to ensure every child reaches their full potential. Continuing to
achieve high standards, sustaining our finances and managing ou r estate well remain key strategic priorities. Growing the Trust

to increase our critical mass and ensure more schools benefit from our approach is also being pursued with a further primary

school expected to ioin during the 2025/25 financial year.

We have looked specifically at the strategic environment we operate within and continue to respond accordingly with careful

appraisal of Trust growth options and effective stewardship of our workforce, estate and digital resources into the future. We

have developed effective mechanisms for devolved empowerment for schools within our MAT framework for accountability
and plan to continue developing this approach to continuously improve the experience of our pupils, staff and wider
community, We are specifically focussed on exciting estates projects and unlocking the full potential of these to continuethe
success our schools demonstrate. Our active approach to risk ma naBement ensures we respond to changes in the national and

local policy agenda affecting us and where possible ahead of and influencinS this as appropriate. The strategic themes we are

sighted on include the new regulatory framework for schoolt national policy changes for SEND, emer8ing local education

sufficiently plans, sustaining our professional workforce into the future and responding to the estates and digital

risk/opportunities that exist in the education sector. To be effective we contin ue to attract and secure Trustees and Local

covernors into the governance of our Trust and Schools and ensure the highest possible levels of integrity and values-based

approach within the changing environment within which we successfully operate.
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Trustees' Report (continued)

Funds Held on Behalf of others

The Trust acts as an intermediary for the following administered projects, but has no responsibility for them. These are

.16-19BursaryFund.TheTrustdistributes16-19bursaryfundstostudentsasanagentforESFA/DfE.

ln each instance, the Trust acts as a banking agent for the funds but has no responsibility for them.

Auditol

lnsofar as the Trustees are aware

. there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditor is unaware: and

. the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

The Trustees' report, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees and

signed on its behalf by:

Morgan
air of Trustees

r2 .L5
Date
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Governance Statement

Scope of Responslbility
As Trusteet we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that the Learning for Life Trust has an effective and

appropriate systems of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business obiectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material

misstatement or loss.

As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE's Governance Guide. This information has been shared

with all layers ofgovernance, and it informs the planning, recruitment and decision-making processes within the Trust.

The Board ofTrustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Finance Officer with oversight from the
Accounting Officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial

management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement between

the Learning for Life Trust and the Secretary of State for Education.

Governors are also responsible for reporting to the Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal
control.

Govemance
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees' report and in the Statement of
Trustees' Responsibilities.

The Board of Trustees formally met 7 times during the year and held an Annual General Meeting. This allowed Trustees to
maintain a strong financial and performance oversight of the Trust whilst working on development plans. ln addition, the
established Audit & Risk Committee met 6 times during the year.

Attendance during the year at meetin8s of the Trustee board was as follows:

Trust Board Meetings
Meetlngs
attended

1

7

5

6
4

7

5

Out of a

Audit Finance & Risk Committee
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee is a sub-committee of the main Board of Trustees, its purpose is to assist the Trust

board in meeting its obligations under the Academies Financial Handbook by directing the trust's programme of internal

scrutiny and ensuring that risks are being addressed appropriately through internal s€rutiny, and reporting to the Trust board

on the adequacy of the trust's internal control framework, including financial and non-financial controls and management of
risks,

Meetlngs Out ofa
Trustee attended possible

MrBCook 6 6

DrHMorgan 4 6

MroNicols 5 6

MrPTerry 4 5

MrJ Stephens 4 6

Trustee
Dr H Morgan

Mr O Nicols
Mr B Cook
Mr J Brettle
Mrs M Desmond

Mr P Terry
Mr R Watson

epossib
7
7

7
7
7

7
7
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Governance Statement (continuedf

Attendance during the year at meetings of the Schools' Local Goveming Body Meetints was as follows

Pate 15

School
Eroughton Primary School

Cockermouth School
Fairfield Primary School

% Attendance
u
96

86

Board ofTrustees nork, performance and changes in composition
The Trust has continued to develop and refine centralised services and functions, including finance and management

information systems. The Trust has developed solid foundations for future growth and ensured that future expansion projects

are seamless transitions.

The Board has further developed reporting to the board by improving the quality of data and information in relation to key

areas such as: School attainment, School support & improvement, Safeguarding and Finance. This information ensures that the
board are able to fulfil their duties effectively and are able to support the schools in developing further and work towards
achieving its aims.

The Trust continued to review, develop and implement key policy and procedures as part of its improvement plans. The Trust

has a focussed and ambitious development plan and is exploring Browth options in a sustainable manner. The Board submitted
an applrcation for further expansion in January 2025, and the application was approved.

During the year the Trustees were able to consider their strategic approaches to Trust groMh, WorHorce, Estates and Digital

Technology. Taken together these provide a clear strategic agenda for the Trust to continue supporting its schools and being

attractive for potentia I joining schools into the future.

ln order to strenSthen communication between local governing boards and the trust board, the Trust established a chairs'

meeting. The group meet termly to discuss Trust and school updates and to share successes and challenges. Prior to each Trust

Board meeting, a meeting ofthe Audit, Finance and Risk Committee is held. The committee works to monitor and manage the
risks associated with the Trust and use this knowledge to inform the works ofthe auditing provision. The committee also

receives and responds to any outcomes from the audit function, both internal and external.

The Trustees review the risk environment and risk registers through a structured approach and have established risk appetites

for various areas of opportunities and threats that exist to organisations in our sector. We ensure that mitigations are in place

to maintain a risk level in line with our appetite and to safeguard the ongoing success of the Trust both operationally and

strategically into the future.

conflicts of interest
The Trust keeps an up-to-date register of interests at all levels within the organisation to ensure all conflicts are monitored. The

Trust capture information annually and upon appointment of new Members, Trustees, Governors or Senior Staff, Any

declarations of interest are announced at the start of meetings and any related party transactions are monitored through the
finance system. The Trust also have an Audit, Finance & Risk committee who monitor any conflicts of interest.

Meetings
Full Trust Board meetings occur every half term (6 times per year). Prior to the Trust Board meetings, Local Governing Board

meetings and Audit, Finance and Risk meetings occur to ensure that outcomes and proposals can pass to the Board in a timely
fashion. The Board plan their annual meetings in advance to ensure timely returns. An AGM takes place each December. The

Trust, LGBs and Audit, Risk and Finance committee can also meet in response to any issues that arise.
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Governance Statement (continued)

Govemdnce Review
. The Trustees Board Members sit solely on the Trust Board to give clear separation in the layers ofgovernance.
. The Chairs of both the Trust Board and the Local GoverninB Body meet on a termly basis.
. The Trust regularly review key policy and procedures within the Trust as part of its improvement plans.
. The Trust has identified that in order to suppoft Trust expansion; greater Trustee capacity is required. The Trust is

continuing on a targeted recruitment campaign to ensure all areas highlighted in the competency framework are covered
. The Trust appoints a link Trustee to Safeguarding and SEND.

Review ofvalue tor Money
The Accounting Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the academy trust delivers good value in the use of public resources.

The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refers to educational and wider societal outcomes, as well as estates
safety and management, achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.

The Accounting Officer considers how the Trust's use of its resources has provided good value for money during each academic
year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, including the use of benchmarking data
where appropriate. The Accounting Officer for the Trust has delivered improved value for money during the year by:

fu a high proportion ofthe school's revenue expenditure is spent on staff, the school undertakes an annual review of its
curriculum offer and its staffing requirements to ensure it is appropriate for the size of school.

The Trust has undertaken a full Schools Resource Management Advisor Review and is implementing recommendations from
this, which were already known to the Trust and being implemented accordingly.

Condition lmprovement Fund bids were applied for and successfully delivered at Cockermouth and Fairfield School.

Applications for Broughton School were made but not successful and further applications are being prepared accordingly.
The tender processes relating to these projects complies with the Trusts Finance Policy and public procurement reBulations.

All school service level agreements reviewed annually to ensure best value for money. - For example, all schools reviewed

their energy contracts during the financial year.

Utilising lntegrated Curriculum and Financial Planning to inform decision making.

Throughout the year, the Trust, supported by external consultants, centralised a number of key contracts in order to provide

administrative efficiency and financial savings to the Trust and the schools. we also maintained a Trust-wide contracts register

to be able to review all key contracts at the point of expiry to ensure we achieve best-value upon renewal.

The Trust has prioritised funds to ensure that the estate is safe and well-maintained. We have appointed an external contractor
to support the Trust with Condition lmprovement Fund bids and have ring-fenced funds to support the bids in the 2025/26

round to target improvements at Broughton Primary School.

The Purpose of the System of lnternal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to
achieve policies, aims and objectives. lt can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The

system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identif,, and prioritise the risks to the achievement of
Academy Trust policies, aims and obiectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in

Learning for Life Trust for the period 01 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the annual report
and financial statements.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the academy trust is exposed together with the operating, financial

and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The board of trustees is ofthe view that there is

a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the academy trust's significant risks that has been in place

for the period 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial

statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the board of trustees.
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Governance Statement (continued)

Finance Policy & Scheme of Delegation
Capital project management
Cyber resilience and strategy
Payrolltesting
Budgeting pro€esses/assumptions

Whistleblowing and other policies/implementation
Risk Management
Procurement processes and creditor payments

Page 17

The Risk and Control Framework
The Trust's system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information and administrative
procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability. ln particular, it includes:

'comprehensivebudgetingandmonitoringsystemswithanannual budget and monthly fina ncial reports which are reviewed
and agreed by the Board ofTrustees;

. regular reviews by the Board of reports which indicate financial performance against the forecasts and of major purchase
plans, capital works and expenditure programmes;

. setting targets to measure financial and other performance;

. clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines;

. delegation of authority and segregation of duties;

. identification, regu lar review and management of risks at school andTrust level.

lnternal Scrutiny
The Trust utilises two formal audit functions to ensure compliance and strong performance in relation to the operation and
performance of the organisation. The Trust uses SKL Education Consultancy to perform the internal audit. The scope of the
internal audit work is Suided by the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee. The Trust use Saint & Co to perform the external audit
role.

The lnternal audit function provides independent assurance to the board that controls and risk management are effective. The
external auditor's role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the Trust's financial
systems. ln particular the checks carried out across all audits in the current period included:

On a termly basil audit reports are considered by the Board of Trustees on the operation of the systems of-control aRd on the
discharge of the Board of Trustees' financial responsibilities.

The internal auditor has delivered their schedule of works as planned and any recommerdations have been considered. The

board received three rigorous internal audit reportt covering a wide range of areas and acted swiftly upon any
recommendations.

The Trust chose to use the above method of internal scrutiny to ensure independent assurance of financial and non-financial
controls. lt also allowed the Trust to receive an evaluation of suitability to its controls whilst gaining advice on how to develop
further.
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Governance Statement (continuedl

Review of Effectiveness
The Accounting Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. During the year in
question the review has been informed by:

. the work ofthe internal auditor / reviewer;

. the financial manaBement and governance self-assessment process;

. the work of the leaders within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework.

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal control by the
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement ofthe system is in
place.

Conclusion
Based on the advice of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee and the Accounting Ofricer, the Board of Trustees is of the
opinion that the academy trust has an adequate and effective framework for governance, risk management and control.

Approved by order of the members ofthe Trustee Body and signed on its behalf by:

organ MrC
ir of Trustees Accountint Officer

aln 16- Date
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Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance
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As Accounting Officer of Learning for Life Trust, I confirm that I have had due regard to the framework of authorities governing

regularity, propriety and compliance, including the trust's funding agreement with DfE, and the requirements of the Academy
Trust Handbook, including responsibilities for estates safety and management. I have also considered my responsibility to
notify the academy trust Board of Trustees and DfE of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with terms and

conditions of all funding, including for estates safety and management.

I confirm that I and the academy trust Board of Trustees are able to identifv any material irregular or improper use of all funds
by the academy trust, or material non-compliance with the framework of authorities.

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or non{ompliance have been discovered to date. lf any

instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the Board of Trustees and DfE.

Mr C Steele
Accounting Officer

qln /ef Date
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The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for
preparing the Trustees' Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Annual Accounts Direction published by th€
Department for Education, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted AccountinB Practice)

and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law, the Trustees

must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and ,air view of the state of affairs of
the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for
that period. ln preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to;

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

. observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024lo 2025

. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, sub.iect to any material departures disclosed and

explained in the fi nancial statements
. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charitable

company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the charitable

company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and

enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial and other
controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They are also responsible

for ensuring grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
charitable company's website, Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members ofthe Board of Trustees and signed on its behalf by

oGan
Chair of Trustees

q 2( Date
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lndependent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of the Learning for Life Trust

opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Learning for Life Trust for the year ended 31 August 2025 which comprise the

Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is

applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of lreland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

ln our opinion the financialstatements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company's affairs as at 31 August 2025 and of its incoming resources

and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;

have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2019 and Academies Accounts Direction 2024to 2025

Basis for opinion

we conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) (lSAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial

statements section of our report. We are independent of the charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements

that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concem
ln auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Learning for Life Trust's ability to continue as a going concern for a

period of at least 12 months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities ofthe Trustees with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections

of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report including the Trustees' report, other than the
financial statements and our audito/s report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information contained within
the annual report. lt includes the Reference and Administrative Details, the Report of the Directors and Strategic Report and

the Governance Statement. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. lf we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. lf, based on the work we have

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact

We have nothing to report in this regard
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lndependent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of the Learning for Life Trust
(continued)

Opinion on other matters prescribed bythe Companies Act 2006

ln our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit

the information given in the Report of the Trustees for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is

consistent with the financial statements; and

the Report of the Trustees has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matte6 on which we are required to report by exception

ln the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Report of the Trustees.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
reportto you it in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches

not visited by us; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees Responsibilities, the Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable
company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being

satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable to
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company's ability to continue as

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting

unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.
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lndependent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Memberc of the Learning for Life Trust

(continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit ofthe financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the rinancial statements as a whole are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the lndependent Auditors that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with lSAs (UK)

will aly,/ays detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with

our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irreBularities, including fraud and non{ompliance with laws and regulations, is

detailed below:

. the engagement partner ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence, capabilities and

skills to identify or recognise non{ompliance with applicable laws and regulations;

. we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the company through discussions with directors and other

management;
. we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the financial

statements or the operations of the company;
. we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making enquiries of

management and inspecting legal correspondence; and

. identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained alert to
instances of non{ompliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the sus€eptibility of the company's financial statements to material misstatement, including obtaining an

understanding of how fraud might occur, by:

making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of actual,

suspected and alleged fraud;

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:
. performed analytical procedures to identifv any unusual or unexpected relationships;
. tested iournal entries to identify unusual transactions;
. assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates set out in the accounting

policies were indicative of potential bias; and

. investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

ln response to the risk of irregularities and non-Compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures which included,

but were not limited to:

agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;
reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance;

enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims; and

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and regulations are from
financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance, Auditing standards also limit the

audit procedures required to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other
management and the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.

Material misstatements that arise due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as they may involve

deliberate concealment or collusion.
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lndependent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of the Learning for Life Trust
(continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting

Council's website at: www.frc.org.uldauditorsresponsibillties. This description forms part of our auditors report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 ofthe
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an audito/s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by

law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable company's

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Little {Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of

Saint & Co

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors
The Old Police Station
Church Street
Ambleside
Cumbria
LA22 OBT

oq
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lndependent Reporting Accountant's Assurance Report on Regularity to the Learning for Life Trust and

the secretary of State for Education

ln accordance with the terms of our engagement Ietter dated 15l7O/2O24 and fufther to the requirements of the Department

for Education (DfE) as included in the extant Framework Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy

Trusts, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has come to our attantion that
would suggest, in all material repects, the expenditure disbursed and income received by Learning for Life Trust during the
period 01 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have not been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and that the
financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Respective Responsibilltles ol the Accountint Otficer ot Learnint for Lifu Trust and the Reponing Accountant

The Accounting Offcer is responsible, under the requirement of the Learning for Life Trust's funding agreement with the
Secretary of State for Education and the Academy Trust Handbook for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income
received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which
govern them.

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical guidance and are to
obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements ofthe extant Framework

and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts. We report to you whether anything has come

to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income
received during the period 01 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have not been applied for the purposes intended by
Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants
of Academy Trusts issued by DfE, which requires a limited assurance engagement as set out in our engagement letter.

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and explanations in

order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on regularity.

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance enBagement and consequently does not
enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable
assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the academy
trust's income and expenditure.

The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes

. the school resource management self-assessment checklist (SRMSAT) was obtained and considered;

. responses to the top 10 'musts' for chairs and other Trustees from the AFH was obtained and considered;

. having a general awareness of regularity and propriety whilst conducting the statutory audit function;

. reviewing if extra-contractual severance payments have been made in accordance with the Handbook;

. reviewing if borrowing agreements, including leases to ensure they have been made in accordance with the Handbook;

. reviewing the minutes of the meeting of the main committees during the year;

. reviewing expenditure to check that it was not ultra vires to the charitable objectives;

. obtaining Trustee / governors declaration of interests;

. where present obtaining the Accounting Officer's file.
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lndependent Reportint Accountant's Assurance Report on Regularity to the LearninB for Life Trust and

the Secretary of State for Education (continuedl

Conclusion

ln the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the expenditure

disbursed and income received during the period 01 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 has not been applied for the purposes

intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to Learning for Life Trust and the Secretary of State for Education in accordance with the terms of our

engaBement letter, Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to Learning for Life Trust and the Secretary of State

for Education those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by

law, we do not accept or assume responsibllity to anyone other than Learning for Life Trust and the Secretary of State for

Education, for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed.

ren Little (Reporting Accountant

For and on behalf of

Saint & Co

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors
The Old Police Station
Church Street
Ambleside
Cumbria
LA2 2 OBT

0ate
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Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 Autust 2025

(lncluding lncome and Expenditure Account)
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L27,U7

70,730,670

772,688

All of the academy's activities derive from continuing operations during the above financial periods
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Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2025

Fixed assets

Tangible assets
lnvestments

202s
E

202s
f

2024
t

2024
€
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Company Number 09690231

7,773,776

7,773,776

s,000
588,679
468,538

7,762,277

(571,891)

590,325

2,363,502

1,867,838
207,557

2,O75,405

2aa,o97
2AA,O97

2,363,502

Note

74

15

16

77

76,794
599,175

2,3s9,904

12,754,263

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: Amount falling due greater than one year 18

Defined benefit pension scheme asset/(liability)

Total net assets

24

Current assets

Stock
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Unrestricted income fu nds
Generalfund

Total unrestrlcted funds

Liabilities
Creditors: Amount falling due within one year

Net current assets

Funds of the academy trust:
Restricted funds

Fixed asset funds
Generalfunds
Pension reserve

Total restricted funds

2,975,273

(1,ss3,246)

12,754,263

7,422,O27

t4,176,290

1L33,4791

2,420,OOO

19

19

79,24
19

72,777,796
333,2ss

2,420,OOO

t5,524,451

19 938,360
938,360

Total funds t6,462,471

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees, and authorised for is sue on ...ffi.
and signed on their behalf by:

orSan MrC
Chair of Trustees Accounting Officer

p.eczm^b:*r...(as.

2,363,50276,462,877
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Reconciliation of net income / (expenditure) to net cash flow from operatint activhies

Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the statement of financial

activities)

Adjusted Jot:
Depreciation
capital grants from DfE and other capital income
lnterest receivable
CIF loan interest payable

Defined benefit pension scheme costs less contributions payable

Defined benefit pension scheme net pension finance costs

Defined benefit pension scheme obligation inherited
Fixed assets transferred from predecessor trust on transfer
Cash transferred academy trust transferred in
Decrease/(lncrease)in stocks
Decrease/(lncrease) in debtors
lncrease/(Decrease) in creditors
lncrease/(Decrease) in creditors over 1 year

Decrease/(lncrease) in clF/salix loans included above

Net cash provided by / (used in) Operating A611v111"t

202s

f

2024

e
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u,632
(891,557)

(7,9741

(49,000)
1,000

(616,894)

304,338

11,811,309 LL6,774

2,65't,743
(121,603)

121,8241
7,623

(103,000)
(29,000)

(13,638,230)
(1,s09,387)

(11,194)
89,504

981,355
L33,479

(159,733)

C.sh flows from financint activities
Repayments of borrowing
cash inflows from new borrowing
Net cash provided by/ (used in) financing activities

Cash f,ows from investing activities
lnterest receivable
Cash transferred academy trust transferred in
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets

Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Less: Assets acquired from other predecessor trust on transfer
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reportint period

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 S€ptember 2024

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period

Cash and cash equivalents at 3l August 2025

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

cash in hand and at bank
Notice deposits (less than 3 months)
Totalcash and cash equivalents

Analysis of changes in net debt 1 Sept 24

E

468,s38

468,538 1,891,365 2,359,904

(13,630)
77L,7 40

ao,442 (1,0s3,391)

158,110

1,974

(s0,309)

7,652,8t4
897,67
843,332

1,891,366 (210,059)

27,824
1,509,387

(13,638,230)
13,638,230

121,503

1 Sept 24
€

468,538

458,538

t,652,874

2,359,904

Cash flows
f

1,891,366

678,597

8r'.3,332

468,538

31 Aut 25
t

2,359,904

cash
Loans falling due within one year
Loans falling due after more than a year
Finance lease obligations
Total

31 Aug 25

l77t,74Ol

(39,884)

38,267

cash flows New
atreements

E

O,ther non-
cash changes

fE

1,891,366
13,630

e
2,359,904

126,2s41
(133,479)

468,538 1,904,996 lt7t,740l (1,623) 2,2@,t7t
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

1. Statement of Accountiry Policies

A summary ofthe principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where noted),
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the academy trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared under
the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of
lreland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland
(Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 issued by DfE, the Charities Act 2011 and the
Companies Act 2006.

The trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the entity

Goint Concern
The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material uncertainties

related to events or conditions that may cast slgnificant doubt on the ability of the company to continue as a going

concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for
issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the academy trust has adequate resources to continue in

operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the academy trust's ability

to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial

statements.

lncoming Resources

All incoming resources are recognised when the academy trust has entitlement to the fundt the receipt is probable and

the amount can be measured reliably.

Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income received for
specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the balance sheet. Where income is

received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is not unconditional entitlement to the income

and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred income untilthe performance-related conditions are

met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.

. General Annual Grant is recoBnised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is receivable

and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability.

Other government grants are also recognised on a receivable basis. For all grants the balance of income received for

specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the balance sheet.

Capitalgrants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts of
capital grants are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund, Capital grants are recognised when

there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they are expended.

Donations, legacies and otherforms ofvoluntary income are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no

performance-related conditions) where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the extent the academy

trust has provided the goods or services.
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Notes to the Financial statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continued)

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (Continued)

Donated goods, facilities and services. Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected

proceeds from sale less the expected costs of sale. lf it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in

stock and 'lncome from other trading activitieJ. Upon sale, the value of the stock is charged against 'lncome from

other trading activities' and the proceeds are recognised as 'lncome from other trading activities'. Where it is

impracticalto fair value the items due to the volume of low value items they are not recognised in the financial

statements until they are sold. This income is recognised within 'lncome from other trading activities'.

where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this reliably, in

which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as income from donations and a

corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful economic

life in accordance with the academy trust's accounting policies.

Transfer of existint academies into the academy trust
Where assets and liabilities are received on the transfer of an existing academy into the academy trust, the transferred net

assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the balance sheet at the point when the risks and rewards of ownership
pass to the academy trust. An equal amount of income is recognised for the transfer of an existing academy into the
academy trust within donations and capitalgrant income to the net assets acquired.

Deferred lncome
crants and other funding received for the academy's educational activities for a period spanning the year end are deferred
pro-rata to the relevant periods in order to match the funding to the period in which the costs of charitable activities are

incurred.

Atency Arrangements
The academy trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 bursary funds from the ESFA/DfE. Payments received from the
ESFA/DfE and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the statement offinancial activities as the trust
does not have control over the charitable application ofthe funds. The trust uses up to 5% ofthe allocation towards its own
administration costs and this is recognised in the statement of financial activities.

The funds received and paid and any balances held are disclosed in the agency arrangements note. The unused funds at the
period end are included as a liability in the balance sheet in other creditors.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third party, it is

probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be
measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs

and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity
are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity and suppon costs which are
not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of
re50urce5.

Charitable Activities - These are costs incurred on the academy trust's educational operations, including support costs

and costs relating to the governance of the academy trust apportioned to charitable activities.

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continued)

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (Continuedl

Page 32

Tanglble Fired Ass€ts
Tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.

The capitalisation policy of items as tangible fixed assets is single items costing f2,000 or more

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or from the
private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected useful economic life.

Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the continued use of the asset, the related grants are
credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet.

Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial

Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged
to the unrestricted fund.

Tangible fixed assets transferred on conversion to Academy status have been included in the accounts at valuation

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write offthe cost of
each asset on a straight-line/reducing balance basis over its expected useful life, as follows:

Freehold property - 50 years straight line
Leasehold land - straight line over remaining lease term
Leasehold buildings - straight line over economic life (ranging from 25-30 years - updated in 2019 from 15-20 years)

Plant & machinery - 15 years straight line
lnformation communications & technology equipment - 3 years stralght line
Furniture fittings & equipment - 5 years straight line
Motor vehicles - 25% reducing balance

Assets are depreciated in full in the year of purchase

The total depreciation charge is allocated to teaching costs and administration and support costs pro-rata to the number of
employees.

when a new academy ioins the trust the property is depreciated on a straight line basis over its remaining useful economic
life at the date of transfer. All other assets are depreciated in accordance with the trust's accounting policy for each asset

class as ifthey were new assets on the date oftransfer.

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until they are brouBht
into use and reclassified to freehold or leasehold land and buildings.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value

of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value offixed assets and their recoverable

amounts are recognised as impairments. lmpairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities.

Liabilities
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it is probable that
a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably.

Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the academy trust anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has

received as advanced payments for the goods or seryices it must provide.

Salix Accounting Policy / Public Benefit Entlty Concessionary Loans

Public Benefit Entity Concessionary Loans shall initially be measured at the amount received and recognised in the
statement of financial position. ln subsequent years, the carrying amount of the concessionary loans in the financial

statements shall be ad.iusted to reflect any accrued interest payable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continued)

l. Statementof Accountint Policies (Continued)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the academy trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past event which
it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time
value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value ofthose amounts, discounted at the pre-tax

discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding ofthe discount is recognised within interest
payable and similar charges.

Leased Assets
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership remain with the lessor

are charged against profits on a straight line basis over the period of the Iease.

Financial lnstruments
The academy trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and financial liabilities
of the academy trust and their measurement basis are as follows:

Finonciol ossets -trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at amortised
cost as detailed in the notes. Prepayments are not financial instruments.

Cash at bank - is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value

Finqnciol liobilities - trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at amortised
cost as detailed in the notes. Taxation and social security are not included in the financial instruments disclosure definition.
Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and there is an

obligation to deliver services rather than cash or another financial instrument. Amounts due to charity's wholly owned
subsidiary are held at face value less any impairment.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, after making due allowance for obsolete and slow moving
items.

Taxation
The academy trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 khedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and therefore it
meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes.

Accordingly, the academy trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within
categories covered by part 11, chapter 3 ofthe Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 ofthe Taxation of Chargeable

Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continuedl

1. statement of Accounti4 Policies (continued)

Pension Benefits
Retirement benefits to employees of the academy trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPy) and the Local

Government Pension Scheme ('LGPS'). These are defined benefit schemes and the assets are held separately from those of
the academy trust.

Teachers' Pension Scheme
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated to spread the cost of pensions over employees' working
lives with the academy trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and future
pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government Actuary based on quadrennial valuations using a

prospective unit credit method. TPS is an unfunded multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign between

employers. Consequently, the TPS is treated as a defined contribution s€heme for accounting purposes and the
contributions recognised in the period to which they relate.

Local Government Penslon Scheme
The LGPs is a funded multi-employer scheme, and the assets are held separately from those of the academy trust in

separate Trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an

actuarial basis usinB the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a
high-quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least

triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to net income/(expenditure) are the current
service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as

part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of
Financial Activities and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme

assett calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to
discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return
on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

1. Statement of Accounting Policbs (Continued)

Fund Accountint
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the charitable objects of
the academytrust at the discretion oftheTrustees.

School funds that are not otherwise restricted are designated within unrestricted funds.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by funders where
the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted general funds comprise grants, including the General Annual Grant (GAG), and other funding for educational
purposes and any voluntary income to be used for specific purposes.

The Local Government Pension Scheme deficit is recognised against restricted general funds in order to match it against the
GAG, in accordance with Education and Skills Funding Agency guidance,

Details of restricted and unrestricted funds are shown in the notes to the financial statements

Critlcal accounting estimates and areas ofjudtement
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Criticol occounting estimotes, ossumptions ond judgements
The academy trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and
assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of factors
that are determined on an aduarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net
cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, whlch are disclosed in the
notes, will impact on the carrying amount ofthe pension liability. Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects
results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022 has been used by the actuary in valuing the
pensions liability at 31 August 2025. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a
full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount ofthe pension liability.

Furthermore this year the pension asset has been restricted to any surplus of scheme assets over 110% of the scheme
liabilities, in line with the schemes funding strategy.

The annual depreciation charge is sensitive to the estimated useful economic lives of property. The useful economic
lives of property, plant and equipment is initially based on the professional valuers report using their judgement and
experience. The useful economic lives are assessed annually and changed when necessary to reflect current thinking
on their remaining lives.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 Autust 2025 (continued)

2, Donations and CapltalGrants Restricted
Fixed Asset

Funds
f

121,603DfElESFA Capital grants

LA Capital grants

Donations - transfer from predecessor trust
Miscellaneous donations
Gifts in kind

270,49
51,903

13,779,071

Unrestricted
Funds

E

Restricted
Funds

E

Total
2025

f
72r,@3

819,339 14,808,909

51,903

Pate 36

Total
2024

f
897,667

23,4O2

Previous year total

3. Funding for Academy's educatlonal operations

tft/ESFA Grdnts
G€neral Annual Grant (GAG)

General Annual Grant (GAG) - Post 15 Allocation
Other DfE/ESFA grants

Pupil premium

Universal infant free school meals (UIFSM)

Teachers Pay Grant
Teachers Pension Grant
Schools budget grant
National insurance grant
Mainstream schools additional grant
PE Sports Grant
National tutoring programme / mental health grants

Recovery premium grant
Other

Other DfE Group grants

(Xher Government Grants
LA funded statements
Nursery income
Other government grants

Catering
wtaparound and nursery income
School fund income
School trlps income
Other educational income

Previous year total

819,339 262,402 13,900,674 74,982,4r5

1,306 10,496 903,667 915,469

U nrestricted
Funds

C

Total
2024

€

2,366,824

Restricted
Funds

E

9,247,870
1,o42,576

269,443
93,629

757,14L
250,478
357,335
65,819

36,590
(1,033)

Total
2025

E

9,247,870
t,042,576

269,,l83
93,629

151,141

250,418

3s7,33s
65,819

36,s90
(1,033)

915,469

82,O70

93,498
39,299
79,712

76,307
36,600

1,001
7,438

LO,57993,950
600

11,608,378 71,608379 2,733,322

93,950
600

933,044
330,987
88,219

933,044
330,987
88,219

106,414
278,237
27,720

7,3s2,250 7,352,250 417,765

654,954
7t5,482

LO,443

6s4,954
lts,482
33,820

370,988
121,888

75,432
772,557

23,377
370,988

121,888

93,499
57,O45

784,479 73,476,887 74,257,760 3,444,020

188,389 3,295,537 3,484,020
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

4. OtherTradingActivities Unrestricted Restricted
Funds Funds

ff
50,427

38,699

Page 37

Hire of facilities
Hire of sports facilities
Catering lncome
Receipts from staff insurance claims
Risk protection arrangement claims
Other income

Previous year total

5. lnvestment lncome

138

Total
2025

f
50,427
38,699

138

Total
2024

f
7,563

o816

89,126 138 89,264 14,379

7,563

U nrestricted
Funds

L

27,824

Restricted
Funds

E

Total
2024

f
7,974

Total
2025

E

2t,824Bank interest receivable
Other interest receivable

27,a24 2L,424 7,974

Previous year total 7,974 7,974

6,816 74,379
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

6. Expenditure Staff Non Pay Expenditure
Costs Premises Other Cons

EI.E
15,479 25,565

Pate 3t

Total
202s

t
47,OM

Total
2024

t
1,513Cost of other trading activities

Academy's educational operations
Oirect costs
Allocated support costs

10,231,547 1,005,405
7,292,329 2,957,718

ss2,922
1,458,989

71,789,874
5,709,036

2,311,909

L946,246
17,523,476 3,963,123 2,O7L,917 77,494,970 4,294,755

11,539,355 3,988,688 2,077,917 17 ,539 ,9s4 4,299,668

2,655,712 L,736,264 508,288 4,299,664Previous year total

Net income/(expendlturc for the period includes:
Depreciation
Operating lease rentals
(Gain) / loss on disposal of fixed assets

Fees payable to current auditor

7. Co6t of Other Tradint activltles

Trading activities wages costs

Heat and light
Maintenance of premises and equipment

Previous year total

- audit of the financial statements
- other assurance services
- other services

2025
f

2,657,743
39,424

4,420
3,505
4,887

2024
e.

u,632
3,s31

7,200
2,625
5,595

Unrestricted
Funds

t
15,479
25,565

Resuicted
Funds

E

Total
2024

E

Total
2025

E

75,479
25,565 1,513

4t,oM 1,513

1,513 1,513

47,O44
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued!

8. charitableActivhies

Page 39

Unrestricted
Funds

e

4,000

4,000

Restricted
Funds

e
to,23t,547
r,005,405

248,875
10,50r
33,144
14,723

156,039

82,M9
3,797

11,745,874

Total
2025

E

70,237,547
1,005,405

252,875
10,501
33,t44
L4,L23

Total
2024

e
2,76s,694

29,478
57,827

7,797
r,u6
3,772
8,415

Direct Costs - educational op€rations
Teaching and educational support staff costs
Depreciation
Educationalsupplies
Staff development
Other staff costs

Special Facilities

Staff insurance
Examination fees
Educational consultancy
Other direct costs

Support Costs - educational operations
Support staff costs

Deprecration
Staff development
Maintenance of premises and equipment
Maintenance of premises - CIF

Professional Fees

Cleaning
Rates and water
Heat and light
lnsurance
Transport
Catering
Technology costs
School fund expenses
School trips & activities
Bad debts
CIF loan interest
Other support costs

Support Costs - tovemance
Audit fees
Accountancy, assurance and other fees
Governance staff costs
Trustees' training and expenses
Legal fees
Professional fees
Defined benefit pension schemes

Service costs less contributions payable
Net pension finance costs

Totaldirect and support costs

Previous year total

156,039

82,449
3,797

37,68s

77,789,474 2,311,909

205,018

1,000

1,000
1,000

494,964

72,340

7,778,737
7,651,734

L2,727
3s3,952
477,O45

s3,636
175,L67

r02,063
203,939
50,814
11,356

165,870

239,128
30,403

402,L66

7343,749
1,651,738

t2,727
3s3,9s2
477,M5

53,636
t76,757
103,063
204,939
50,814
11,356

660,838
239,728
4i,743

402,766

529,8?4

55,154
575

82,885
762,590

22s
100,079

29,677
6r,832
73,726

1,686
150,374

83,958

100,354
333

1,623
40,o47

7,623
40,081

715,326 5,090,433 5,805,759
27,790

1,993,846

8,420
70,975
11,580

8,420
70,975
11,580

7,200
10,181

8,5M

73,475
1,000

3,802
500

3,802

500

(96,7231 (96,7231 (7,600)

779,326 76,779,544 77,498,970

165,552 4,L32,603 4,298,155

(103,000) (103,000) (49,000)
(29,000) (29,000) 1,000

4298,1ss
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continued)

9. Staff

a. staff costs and employee benetrts

Staff costs during the period were:
Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Operating costs of defined benefit pension schemes

Other employee benefits
Apprenticeship leW

2025
E

8,351,581
974,779

2,04.3,699

74 386
17,324,445

214,970

Pate /Ul

2024
e

2,077,745
188,093

439,942

2,645,220
9,892Supply staff costs

Staff restructuri ng costs

Less: seconded out of the organisation

Staff restructuring costs comprise
Redundancy payments

Severance payments

Other restructuring costs

b. S*erance payrneds

The academy trust paid no severance payments in the year, disclosed in the following bands:

Choritoble Activlties
Management
Teachers
Administration and support

11,539,355 2,655,L72

2025
No

0 -f25,000
€25,001 - fs0,000
E50,001- f100,000
€100,001 - €1s0,000
€150,000+

c. Speclal staff severance payments - Non statrtory/noEont6ctual staff severance payments

lncluded in staff restructuring costs are non-statutory/nonrontractual severance payments totalling €Nil (2024: €Nil)

lndividually, the payments were €Nil. (2024: fNil)

d. Stafi numbeE

The average number of persons employed by the academy during the period was as follows;
2025

No
3

109
7U

2024
No

1

30
58

296 89
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Senior Management Team

Staff Governors

2025
€

397,063

2024
t

20s,627
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued!

e. Hither paid staff

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs and employer national insurance

contributions) exceeded f 60,000 was:

I

5202
No
6
o
2

1

I

1

2024
No
2€60,000 to f69,999

f70,000 to f79,999
f80,000 to €89,999
f90,000 to f99,999
f100,000 to f109,999
f110,000 to €119,999

20

f. Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the academy trust comprise the Trustees and the senior management team as listed on
page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions) received by key management
personnel for their services to the academy trust was:

3

397,063 205,627



financial services in the form of budgeting and management software and accountancy and auditing.
health and safety and facilities management
legal services

educational and safeguarding support services

centralised software services

cleaning contract services

The trust charges for these services on the following basis

Each academy made a contribution to central Trust services to cover core Trust costs and where appropriate to
fund collaborative procurement to achieve best value. The levels charged varied for each school according to
the level of procurement collaboration they opted into. The contributions covered the portion of staff time
spend on Trust central activities. Allofthese are proportions or staff based in schools undertaking school based

roles. The level of contribution is reviewed annually by the Trust Board as annual budgets are set.

The actual amounts charges during the year were as follows: 2025
E

728,733
127,068
45,564

300,755

2024

11. Transters Between Funds

Learning for Life Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

10. Central Services

The academy trust has provided the followinB central services to its academies during the

Cockermouth school
Fairfield Primary School

Broughton Primary School

Unrestricted funds
Oesignated catering underspend moved to GAG to cover unallocated costs

School contributionsto CIF proiects from unrestricted funds
Unrestricted funds used to support trust GAG deficits

Restrlcted Beneral fu nds

School trips fund (under)/over spend transferred tofrom GAG

UIFSM catering (under)/over spend transferred to/from GAG

General Annual Grant fund
School trips fund under/(over) spend transferred to/from GAG

Unrestricted funds used to support trust GAG deficits
Fixed assets purchased from GAG funds
UIFSM catering under/(over) spend transferred to/from GAG

Oesignated catering undelover) spend transferred to/from GAG

Restricted flxed asset funds
Fixed assets used for charitable purposes - purchases from funds per above
DfE/EFA formula grant to Fixed assets fund - purchases of fixed assets

PaBe 42

96,972
35,541

132,513

E

2025
E

(30o,s3s)

L7,370
91,002

5,773
36,84s

(11,370)
(s,713)

144,930

127,U7

khool contributions to CIF projects from unrestricted funds

(36,84s)
(172,688)

(91,002)

772,68
172,W
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

12. Rehted Party Transactions - Trustees' remuneEtion and exp€nses

No Trustees have been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment with the academy trust. The
Trust's Accounting Officer and other key management personnel are employed by the Trust, and their remuneration is

disclosed in the staff costs note but they are no classed as Trustees by virtue oftheir office.

Other Trustees did not receive any payments, other than expenses, from the academy in respect of their role as Trustees

During the period ended 3l August 2025, there were no travel and subsistence expenses reimbursed or paid directly to
Trustees (2024: f Nil).

13. Trustees and officers insurance

ln accordance with normal commercial practice the academy has purchased insurance to protect Trustees and officers from
claims for negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on academy business. The insurance for the year ended 31

August 2025 provides cover up to f10,000,000 (2024: €10,000,000) on any one loss and any one membership year.

The academy's insurance is via the Department for Education's risk protection arrangement (RPA) and the cost ofthis
insurance is included in the total insurance cost. lt is not possible to quantify the Trustees and officers indemnity element
from the overall cost of the RPA scheme membership.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continuedl
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Learning for Life Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

14. Tangible Fixed Assets (continued)

Condition lmprovement Fund Proiects
During the year the academy completed a number of project on the school buildings which were funded by an ESFA

Condition lmprovement Fund Brants. The fullcost ofthese pro.iects have been treated as resources expended in the
Statement of Financial Activities and is included in maintenance of premises costs.

15. Stock 2025
L

8,s00
7,694

76,794

15. DebtoB 2025
e

8,697
60,131

139,875
362,386

28,08s

Page 45

Stationery
CaterinB

Trade debtors
VAT recoverable
Prepayments
Accrued income
Other debtors

17. Creditors: Amounts Falling due Within One Year

Trade creditors
Taxation and social security
Sundry creditors
DfE/ESFA creditor
Accruals

Deferred income
CIF and Salix loans

Deferred lncome

Deferred income includes:
Deferred income at l September 2024
Resources deferred in the year
Amounts released from previous years
Deferred income at 3l August 2025

Deferred income comprises:
EFA Rates Funding for 1 September 2025 to 31 March 2026
EFA Universal lnfants Free School Meals allocation for 2025/26
HiBh needs funding for 1 September 2025 to 31 March 2026
Other

2024
f

4,500
s00

5,000

599,175

2025
e

1s3,664
209,460
267,944

3484s
330,248
530,831

26,254
1,553

2024
f

2,770
34,357

30,83r
@7,667

13,054
688,679

2024
e

22,977

4,274

,246 571,891

454,986
89,774

89,774
530,831
(89,774t-

2024

67,277
89,714

|'67,2771

2025
e f

530,831 89,774

5,909
55,253

47!,OO2
(1,333)

s,82s
54,547
29,348

530,831 49,774
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continuedf

18. Credhors: Amounts falling due treater than one year

CIF and Salix loans
733,479

Salix loans are public benefit concessionary loans which are repayable over 8 years from commencement and are interest
free.

The academy as part of condition improvement fund projects received funding in the form of a CIF loans. This loans are

normally repayable over 5 years and attracts interest.

lncluded within the above are amounts not wholly repayable within 5 years and are repayable by instalments totalling:

EE
Salix loans

CIF loans 22,7r2

Pate 46

2024202s
C

733,479
f
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 Autust 2025 (continuedl

P4e 47

19. Funds

Restricted General Funds

General Annual Grant (GAG)

Pupilpremium
Universal infant free school meals (UIFSM)

Teachers Pay Grant
Teachers Pension Grant
Schools budget grant
National insurance Brant
Mainstream schools additional grant
PE Spods Grant
National tutoring programme grants

Other DfE/ESFA grants

Other DfE Group grants

LA funded statements
Nursey income
Other government grants

School trips fund
S€hool fund
Other educational income
Other restricted general funds

Restricted Fixed Asset Funds
Fixed assets used for charitable purposes

DfElESFA formula capital
Other ESFA capital grants

Capital donations
ESFA condition improvement funds
ESFA condition improvement funds
Fencing & office safeguarding project

Balance at lncoming
Ol-Sep resources

2024
fE

207,567 70,475,996
269,83
93,629

751,141
250,478
357,335
65,819

35,590
(1,033)

93,9s0
600

933,044
330,987

8A,219
475,457
62,463

121,888
52,O47

Resources

exp€nded

e

(10,500,1001
(269,483)

(87,916)
(151,141)
(250,418)

{357,335)
(65,819)

Gains, Losses

and Taansfers

Balance at
3l-Aug

2025
eE

(36,s90)
1,033

(93,9s0)
(600)

(933,044)

(330,987)

(88,219)
(372,6791

(30,4031
(121,888)

(52,041)

74/,930

(s,713)

(11,370)

269,393

31,402
32,460

207,567

1,173,776

11,366

83,247
55

13,538,230
47,328

307,583
(86,46?l

(2,657,7431

(3s,816)

1395,2771
(81,768)

55

87,694
84,994

{ss)

72,754,263
5,567

11,365

t3,739,427 (13,741,580) 727,U7 333,25s

1 867,838 L3,900,674 {3,170,004)

132,000

772,648

2,288,000

72,777,t96
R6tricted Pension Res€lve Funds
Pension reserve fund
Total Restricted Funds

2,420,O@

2,O75,4O5 2t ,6{0,095 115,779,5U1 5 15,524,451

Unrestricted Funds

Unrestricted general funds
Unrestrided conversion surplus fund
Designated lettings fund
Designated catering fund
Designated wraparound and nursery fund
Designated schoolfund
Total Unrestricted Funds

779,290 21,824
807,776
49,L26

654,954
775,482
28,066

538,026
(801,716)

739,740

44,o82

135,413

t5,725

(47,044l.
(518,109)
(88,876)
(72,3411

(36,84s)

108,807

760370l (300,s3s) 938,360

TotalFunds 2,t6!,5O2 29,351261 (17,539,954) 2,28A,OOO t6,46,2,Att

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the academy trust was not subject to a limit on the amount of
General Annual Grant (GAG)that it could carry forward at 3l August 2025.

288,097 1,7t1,I64
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continued!

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows

Gcneral Annual 6rant (GAG) fund
This represents the core funding for the educational activities of the school that has been provided to the academy via the
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA).

Pupil premium fund
This represents funding paid by the DfE to support disadvantaged students in their teaching and learnint, with the aim of
improvint their attainment and closing the gap with more advantaged students.

Teadrers pay and penslon grants
Teachers pay grant is provided to support teacher pay awards. Teachers pension grant is provided to support the increase in

employer contributions to the Teachers' Pension Scheme from September 2019.

Defined beneftt pension scheme ftrnd
This represents the deficit on the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) at the year end. For details of the deficit
payment plan see the pensions note.

Local authortty funded statements
This represents funding from the Local Authority to pay for Learning Support Assistants who support the "statemented"
spe€ial needs students.

Nursery income fund
This represents funding from the Local Authority to pay for a 30 place nursery for 3hrs every day

Restricted school funds (lncludlnttrlps)
This relates to schooltrips and other activities.

Fixed assets used for charhable purposes

This represents the value and movements on Tantible Fixed Assets note

DfVESFA formula capital fund
This represents funding from the ESFA to be used for capital projects

ESFA condilion improvement funds
This represents fundinB from the ESFA to be used for specific capital projects

Designated caterint
This fund relates to the provision of school meals and refreshments that are charged to pupils. The academy also receives

Universal lncome Free School Meals (UIFSM) income which goes to this designated fund.

Designated wraparound fu nd
This fund relates to the provision of wraparound clubs that are charBed to pupils.

Funds in Dellcit
At the balance sheet date the scheme is in surplus per the FRS101/102 pension scheme accounting figures, however the 31

March 2022 actuarial valuation of the fund showed that the scheme was still in deficit and annual deficit contribution
payments are required to be made to the scheme.

The Trust has entered into an agreement effective from 1 April 2023 to make additional contributions in addition to normal

funding levels, lt is anticipated that the payments will be made over 10 years from 1 April 2023, includinB f31,800 for
2023124, f32,9OO in 2024125 and E33,9OO in 2025/26.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continued)

Analysis of academies by fund balance

Fund balance at 31 August 2025 were allocated as follows

cockermouth school
Fairfield Primary School

Broughton Primary School
CentralServices
Total before fixed assets and pension reserve

2025
f

755,966
367,339

(9,812)
758,722

Page 49

2024

432,549
(38,04O)

101,155

e

7,277,675 495,664

1,867,838Restricted fixed asset fund
Pension reserve fund
Total

Teaching &
Educational Other

Support Staff Support staff
Costs Costs

ff
7,790,690 913,985
r,737,842 378,464
598,863 96,7 45

770,t52 27,612
to23t,547 1,410,808

Other Costs

(excluding

dep'n) 2025
€f

2,779,490 11,066,349
65A,576 2,a2t,969
10s,558 878,872
43,857 175,627

2,947 ,*L 1+882111

12,777,196
2,420,@O

2024

Anavsis of academies by cost

Expenditure incurred by each academy durinB the year was as follows

Educational

Supplies
E

182,183

52,987
77,705

c

Cockermouth School
Fairfield Primary school
Broughton Primary School

CentralServices
Academy Trust 252,475

3,20s,511
899,776
709,749

4,2L5,036

16,452,811 2,161,92
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

Resources

expended
Gains, Losses

and Transfe6

Page 50

Balance at
3l-Aut

2024
C

207,s67

Crmparative informatlon in respect of the preceding period is as follows:
Balance at lncoming

01-Sep resources
2023

ff
Restdcted General Funds
General Annual Grant (GAG)

Pupil premium

Universal infant free school meals (UIFSM)

Teachers Pay Grant
Teachers Pension Grant
Schools supPlementary grant
Mainstream schools additional grant
PE Sports Grant
National tutoring programme grants

Recovery premium grant
Other DfE/ESFA grants

l-A funded statements
Nursey income
Other government grants

School trips fund
Other educational income
Other restricted general f unds

777,389 2,366,824
82,O70
93,498
39,299
t9,7 t2

12,363,24r'.1
(82,O7O1

(9s,633)
(39,299)

179,7121

(76,301)
(36,600)

(1,001)

l7,4381
(10,579)

(106,414)
(278,23L1

l2t,t2ol
(100,3s4)
(63,861)

17o,4971

€

26,s98

2,t35

5,855

€

76,301

36,600

1,001
7,438

10,579
106,474
274,237
27,720
93,49a
63,861

70,497

177,389 3,372,943 {3,318,354) 35,589

\ao7,499

16,066

74,577

12,000

477,O90

(84,632)

174,5771
(4so)

50,309

14,2sol
(12,000)
(31,259)

201,567

7,773,776

11,366

,r,ro,
55

Restrlcted Fixed Asset Funds
Fixed assets used for charitable purposes

DfElESFA formula capital
Other ESFA capital grants

Capital donations
ESFA condition improvement funds
Fencing & office safeguarding project

1762,5901
55

903,667 1862,24s1 2,800 1,867,838

48,000 (48,000)

2,(n1,q'9 4,216,610 14,1t2,il3l- (9,611) 2,A7sfis

277,L64 10,843 (1,s13) 147,2041

2,81s

t79,290

Restricted Pension Reserve Funds

Pension reserve fund
Total Renrlcted Fundr

Unrestrkted Funds

Unrestricted general funds
Unrestricted conversion surplus fund
Designated catering tund
Designated wraparound and nursery fund
Designated schoolfund
Total Unrestricted Funds

TotalFunds

83,15s 108,807

2!4,319 199,2t2 (16206s) (38,389) 288,097

2,295,328 4Ats,842 (4299,6681 (48,(xD) 2,l6l,s02

75,832
772,557

178,6471
(86,905)

7,823,620



Learning for Life Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 Autust 2025 (continuedl

20. Analysis of Net Assets Between Funds

Fund balances at 31 August 2025 are represented by

L,835,s72
(1,368,838)

(133,479)

2,420,OOO

Resticted
Fixed Asset

Funds

€

72,754,263
207,347

(184,408)

Pate 51

Total
Funds

f
72,754,263
2,975,273

(1,553,246)
(133,479)

2,420,ON

U nrestricted
Funds

t

Restictcd
General

Funds

f
Tangible fixed assets

Current assets
current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Pension scheme asset / liability
Total Net Assets

938,360

Comparative information in respect ofthe preceding period is as follows:

U nrestricted
Funds

t

Restricted
General

Funds

e

368,873
(161,306)

Restricted
Fixed Assct

Funds
t

1,773,776
505,247

(41Os8s)

Total
Funds

c
7,773,776
L,762,217
(s71,891)

Tangible fixed assets

Current assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Pension scheme asset / liability
Total Net Assetg

288,O9?

28a,O97 2O7 ,567 La67 ,A* 2,363,502

9:t8,360 2,753,25s 12,771,196 t6,46231L
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Notes to the Fanancial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

21. Lont-term commhments, includint under operating leases

Op€ratlng Leases

At the balance sheet date the total ofthe Academy Trust's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases was:

2025 2024
Assets other than land & buildings f €

Amounts due within one year 35,777 3,177
Amounts due between one and five years 62,536 7,574
Amounts due after five years 1,400

99,053 10,685

Land and property leases

The leasehold land and buildings are subject to a 125 year lease with Cumbria County Council. Although a peppercorn

rent may be demanded, no such rent has been demanded to date.

22. Gpital Commitments

Contracted for, but not provided in the financial statements
43,247

23. Members' Liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it being

wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount as may be

required, not exceeding €10 as stated in memorandum and articles of association for the debts and liabilities contracted

before he/she ceases to be a member.

2025 2024
t

83,247
f
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 AuBust 2025 (continuedl

24. Pension and Similar Oblitations

The academy trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme England and

Wales {lPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which

is managed by Your Pension Service (YPS)for Westmorland & Furness Council. Both are multi-employer defined benefit

schemes.

The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest actuarial

valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2020 and of the LGPS to the period ended 31 March 2022.

Contributions payable to the schemes at 31 August and included in creditors were as follows
2024

E

Teachers' Pension Scheme
Local Government Pension Scheme

2025
€

774,366
53,415

237,781

The total pension costs to the academy during the year ended 31 August and included in staff costs were as follows

Teachers' Pension scheme
Local Government Pension s€heme

Local Government Pension Scheme deficit recovery
LGPS current service cost/contributions adjustment

2025
f

1,543,039
s70,28s

33,375
(103,0o0)

2024
e

300,772
163,936
24,8U

(49,00o)
439,942

Teachers' Pension Scheme

lntroduction
The Teachers' Pension kheme (TPSI is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers'

Pension Scheme ReBUlations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in academy trusts, All teachers have the option to
opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.

The TPs is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a percentage of salary -

these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds
provided by Parliament.

valuation ofthe Teachers' Pension Scheme
The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in accordance
with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by HM Treasury every 4

years. The aim of the review is to ensure scheme costs are recognised and managed appropriately and the review specifies

the level of future contributions.

Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many

other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020, The valuation report was
published by the Department for Education on 27 October 2023, with the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, applying a notional
investment return based on 1.7% above the rate of CPl. The key elements of the valuation outcome are:

Employer contribution rates set at 28.58% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration levy). This is an

increase of 5% in employer contributions and the cost control result is such that no change in member benefits is

needed.

Total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for service to the
effective date of f262,000 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional
investments held at the valuation date) of €222,200 million, giving a notional past service deficit of f39,800 million

2,0/.3,699
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year €nded 3l August 2025 (continued)

24. Penslons and Similar Obligatlons (condnued)

The result of this valuation will be implemented from 1 April 2024. The next valuation result is due to be implemented from
I Aptil2027 -

The employe/s pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to f1,543,039 (2O24t E30o,1721

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensions website

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The academy trust is

unable to identiry its share of the underlyint assets and liabilities ofthe plan. Accordintly, the academy trust has taken

advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined

contribution scheme. The academy trust has set out above, the information available on the scheme

Local Government Pension Scheme
The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered funds. The

total contributions made for the year ended 31 August were as follows:
2025 2024

EE
Employer's contributions 57O,2aS 163,936

Lump sum deficit contributions 33,375 24,834
Employees' contributions 169,756 47,O@

Total contributions 7?3,416 235,T19

The agreed contribution rates for future yearc arc l9.7 lo 20.6% for employers, and 5.5%to 12.5% for employees

depending on pay bands.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of an

academy trust closure, outstanding local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for
Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013 and on2l luly 2022,lhe Department for Education reaffirmed

its commitment to the guarantee, with a parliamentary minute published on GOV.UK.

At the balance sheet date the scheme is in surplus per the FRS101/102 pension scheme accounting figures, however the 31

March 2022 actuarial valuation of the fund showed that the scheme was still in deficit and annual deficit contribution
payments are required to be made to the scheme.

The Trust has entered into an agreement effective from l April 2023 to make additional contributions in addition to normal

fundin8 levels. lt is anticipated that the payments will be made over 10 years from 1 April 2023, including f31,500 for
2023124, f.4O,7N in 2024125 and E47,3OO in 2025126.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l Autust 2025 (continued)

24. P€nslons and Simllar Obligations (@ntnued)

Local Govemment Pension Scheme (continucd)

The princlpal actuarial assumptions are:

Rate of increase in salaries

Rate of increase for pensions in payment / inflation
Discount rate for scheme liabilities
lnflation assumption (CPl)

Pate 55

At 31
August

2025

4.Otr
2.60%
6.20%
2s0%

Deficit

/ (Surplus)

(17s,00O)
(s4,o0o)
(ss,00o)

(17400O)
(s4,o0o)

(17s,000)

At 31
Augun

2024

4.70%
2.70%
5.00%
2.60%

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The assumed

life expectations on retirement age 55 are:
At 31 At 31

Autust Autust
2025 292,4

Retting todoy
Males
Females

Retiring in 20 yeo6
Males
Females

Sensitivlty analysis
The table below, as produced by Mercer sets out the impact of a small change in assumptions on the defined benefit

obligation. The figures are based on the surplus /deficit in the scheme before anv surplus restriction.

27.4

24.O

2t.4
23.9

22.6
25.5

22.7
25.6

At 31

August
2024

change
Detrclt

/ (surplusl

(3,4s9,000)
(3,144,0O0)
(3,1s9,00O)
(3,445,0O0)
(3,144,000)
(3,4s9,00o)

Discount rate + 0.1%
Discount rate - 0.1%
Mortality assumption - l year increase

Mortality assumption - 1 year decrease

CPI rate + 0.1%

CPI rate - 0.1%

At 31
August

2025
Change

(ls6,000)
159,000
744,OOO

(142,000)
1s9,000

(1s6,000)

(60,000)

61,000
@,000

(s9,000)

61,000
(60,000)
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Notes to the Financlal Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continued)

24. Pensions and Slmllar Obllgatlons (contlnued)

Local G@emment Pension Scheme (contlnuedl

The academy trust's share of the assets in the scheme were: Fairvalue
at 3l August

2025
t

Equity instruments
Equities

Debt instruments
Government bonds
Other bonds

Property
Cash/liquidity
Other

PaBe 56

Fair Yalue

at 31 Autust
2d24

e

4,405,000 1,143,0@

1,735,000 461,m0

922,OOO

121,000
4,951,000

2M,@O
69,000

1,216,000

Total Matet Value of Assets 12,734,OOO 3,133,000

Present value of scheme liabilities
Funded

Unfunded
Surplus / (deficit) in the scheme

Surplus restriction
Surplus / (defictt) recognlsed in the financlal statements

(8,831,000) (3,018,000)

3,303,000 115,000
(883 ,000) (11s,000)

Surplus Restrictlon
As noted above the actuary has valued the academy's share of the Cumbria LGPS to be a surplus of €3,303,000. The trust
has restricted the amount of the surplus recognised as an asset, as FRS102 states that a surplus can only be recognised to
the extent that it reduces future contributions. The rate of future contributions are set at the triennial reviews of the LGPS,

the last one was at 3l March 2022. ln the supporting valuation reports, this stated that only surpluses over 110% of
liabilities are able to be returned to scheme participants through reduced future contributions. ln the academy's case the
assets do exceed 110% of the liabilities, therefore, under the scheme's current funding strategy the academy can reduce its
future contributions. An asset of €2,420,000 has been recognised being the excess of assets over 110% of liabilities.

The actual return on the scheme assets in the year was f616,q)0 (2024: €234,000).

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include anV of the academy's own financial instruments or any property

occupied by, or other assets used by, the academy.

Amounts recognls€d ln the st tement ot f,nancial activities

Current service cost (net of employee contributions)
Net interest cost
Administration expenses
Past service (cost)/gain

Gain/(loss) on curtailment
Gain/(loss) on settlement
Total operating charye

Other recognlsed talns and (lossesf

Remeasurements (liabilities)
Remeasurements (assets)

Surplus restriction movement
Surplus restriction transferred in on existing academies joining the academy trust

Total amount recognlsed ln the SOFA

zo25
f

(49s,0oo)
53,000

(24,000)

2024
E

(13s,0o0)

6,000
(7,000)

(466,000) (136,000)

2025
f

2,330,000
54,000

(768,000)
672,OOO

2024
E

(44,0O0)

86,000
(90,000)

2,420,OOO

2,288,OOO (48,000)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025 (continuedl

24. Pensions and Slmllar OblEatlons (contlnuedl

Local Govemment Penslon Scheme (contlnued)

Changes in the (surplus) / detrch ln the year:

(Surplus) / Deficit in scheme at beginning of period

Transferred in on existing academies joining the academy trust
Current service cost
lnterest cost

Employer contributions
Past service (cost)/gain
Actuarial (8ain)/loss - Remeasurements
Administration expenses

lnterest income
Plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements
Deficit / (Surplusl at 3l Autust 2025

Surplus restriction
Deficit / (Surplus) recotnlsed in the financial statements

Changes in the present value of defined benefft obllgations were as follows:

At be8inning of period

Transferred in on existing academies joining the academy trust
Current service cost
lnterest cost
Employee contributions
Past service (cost)/gain
Actuarial gain/(loss) - Remeasurements
Benefits / transfers paid

Plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements
Benefit oblitation at tl Au8ust 2025

chan8es in the fair value ol Academy's share ofscheme asrets;

At beginning of period

Transferred in on existing academies joining the academy trust
lnterest income
Administration expenses
Actuarial gain/(loss) - Remeasurements

Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Benefits / transfers paid

Plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements
Scheme asseG at 3l Autust 2025

2025
c

(11s,0o0)
(672,000)
495,000
509,000

(598,00O)

(2,384,000)

24000
(s62,00o)

Pat€ 57

2d24
e

(2s,(n0)

135,000
142,000

(184,000)

(42,000)
7,000

(148,000)

(3,303,000) 115,000)

883,000 115,000
(2,420,000)

2025
f

(3,018,000)
(7,091,000)

(49s,000)
(s09,0o0)
(168,0O0)

2024
E

(2,667,000)

(13s,000)
(142,000)

(47,00o)

2,330,000
120,000

(44,000)
17,000

(8,831,@qI (3,018,000)

2025
e

3,133,0m
7,763,O00

s52,000
(24,000)

54,0m
598,000
168,000

(120,00o)

2024
f

2,692,ON

1lt8,m0
(7,00o)

86,000
184,m0
47,000

(17,m0)

12,134,000 3,133,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 3l August 2025 (continuedf

25, Related Party Transactlons

2025
E

Page 5t

Owing to the nature of the academy trust and the composition of the board ofgovernors being drawn from local public and
private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in which the Trustees have an interest.

All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Academy Trust
Handbook, including notifying the DfE of all transactions made on or after I April 2019 and obtaining their approval where
required, and with the academy trust's financial regulations and normal procurement procedures relating to connected and
related party transactions.

The following related party transactions took place in the period of account:

Expendhure Related Party Transactions

Great Broushton Out of School Club Limited (controlled by governors at Broughton)
During the year the Academy Trust paid f315 (2024: f1,295) to Great Broughton Out of khool Club l-imited for the
provision of after school care for pupils. There was no rent received from the OOSC for the use ofthe academy's facilities
Wraparound care at Broughton taken in-house from May 2025.

The academytrust employed a family memberofthe senior leadership team duringthe year

The salary paid was appropriate to the individual's skills and experience and the salary rates paid in accordance with
the academy's pay scales.
No special treatment is received by the family member as a result of her relationship.
The trust has complied with the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook.

Related party transactions with staff governors are detailed in an earlier note.

25. Contintert Asset

The Trust has worked with the Trustees ofthe Benny Walker Charitable Trust to seek their a8reement to fund a sports
pavilion on land already owned by the Trust. This agreement has been reached and is contingent on the Trust achieving
suitable planning permission and entering into contract for the delivery of the scheme. The moneys will be paid to fund
each invoice being paid durint the construction period. The Trust is therefore progressing planning permission and also
preparing a tender for the construction contract. The Trust is not contractually committed and can control if it proceeds

with the project. As a result, there is a contingent asset in this reSard as it is more likely than not that such an inflow of
benefits will occur, but is not yet virtually certain.

27. AtencyArrangements

The Trust acts as an intermediary for the following agency arrangements but has no responsibility for them. The receipts

and payments during the period have been excluded from the Statement of Financial Activities, An amount is in included in

other creditors relating to undistributed funds that are repayable as shown below:

1619 DfEIESFA Bu.sary 2024
€

Monies brought forward
Academy transfer in
Receipts during the year
Repayment of bursary funds to the DfE/ESFA

Distributions during the year
Balance carried forward

16,858

30,736

1619 Bursary Fund
The academy trust distributes 16-19 bursary funds to students as an agent for DfE

172,7491
34,845
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Notes to the Financial statements for the Year Ended 31Au8ust 2025 (continuedl

28. Transfer of existinS academies into the academy trust

7,101,287 201,284

174,734l,

13,477,363
160,867

(158,730)
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73,477,363
160,867

1,143,841

174,t341

on o1 september 2024 the trust took control of cockermouth school, an existinS academy trust. All the operations and

assets and liabilities were transferred to the LearninS for Life Trust for €Nil consideration,

The transfer has been accounted for as a combination that is in substance a gift. The assets and liabilities transferred were

valued at their fair value and recognised in the balance sheet under the appropriate headings with a corresponding net

amount recognised as a net gain in the statement of financial activities as Donations - transfer from predecessor trust.

The following table sets out the fair values ofthe identifiable assets and liabilities transferred and an analysis of their

recognition in the statement of financial activities.

Unredricted
Funds

t

Restrkted
Funds

t

Resticted
Flred Asset

Funds
E

Total
Funds

e

Tantiblc ffxed assets

Leasehold land and buildings
Other tangible fixed assets

Net current assets

Liabilitles over 1 year
IGPS pension surplus/(defkit)

Value reported by t6nsferring academy ttust

. School fund bank recognised at transfer as control
present to principal for funds

. Unrestricted contributions to capital projects not

recognised in reported values of transferring trust

Updated value reported by transferint academy trust

value
reponed by
transfelring

academy
trust

E

r,Lo\247 126550 13,479,500 t4,707 3r7

77,523

(299,s77l-

83,949 70L,572

299,577

819,339 270,499 73,779,O7r 14,808,909

Rounding

Fair value
adjustments

E

school Fund

Recognbed
€

Transfer in
recognls€d

f
Tantible fixed assets

Leasehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles

Current assets

Stock
Debtors due in less than one year

Cash in bank and in hand
l-iabilities

Creditors due in less than one year
Creditors due in more than one year

Provisions
Pensions

Pension scheme assets
Pension scheme liabilities
Pension surplus restriction

Net assets / (liabilhies)

t3,477,O@
125,00O

38,000

331,000
1,407,000

(594,000)
(74,000)

363
(1,878)

(2ss)

501

815 707,572

73,477,363
723,L22

37,745

331,501

1,509,387

{s95,475)
174,7341

7,763,OOO

(7,091,000)
(672,0O0)

17,47sl
(734|-

tot,572 1/r,808,909

7,763,0@
(7,@1,00o)

(672,0O0)

1+710,qD (2,5631


